I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS, CITATION TO 
APPELLATE DECISION & INTRODUCTION 

Homeowner’s rights matter. Such rights are protected 

by U.S. and Washington Constitutions and laws, and rule 

established one century ago by Brown v. Pierce County, 28 

Wn.2d 345, 352 (1902) still holds today: damages for lost 

use of private property should be measured by “fair and 

reasonable rental value of that property.”  This rule has not 

changed.  Recently, rental value was awarded for a 

homeowner who did not “intend[] to rent the property” 

because “rental value is a well-established measure of 

damages”.  Holmquist v. King Cnty.,192 Wn.App. 551, 563

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. For over one century, Washington courts have 

consistently ruled that the homeowners’ paramount right 

to exclude should be respected and homeowners’ 

damages should be compensated when the exclusive use 

rights were interfered. e.g., Bradley v. Am. Smelting & 

Ref Co., 104 Wn.2d 13 677, 692-93, 709 P.2d 782 

(1985);  Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 

Wn.2d 6, 11, 548 P.2d 168 (1942); Kuhr v. City of 

Seattle, 15 Wn.2d 501 (1942).  Where encroachment 

interferes with owner’s right to exclusive use, enjoyment, 

and possession, Washington courts care about 

homeowner’s rights to recovery by announcing, “we 

think it of little moment what the theory the injury’s 
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cause of action may be.”  Peterson v. King County, 41 

Wn.2d 907 (1953) (quoting Kuhr v. City of Seattle, 12 

Wn.2d 501 (1942).).  Should Lian be denied the right to 

recovery of his over six years’ damages for a debated 

theory of “intentional tort” or “negligence”?  

2. Washington courts have consistently ruled that 

homeowner is entitled to recovery damages using “fair 

and reasonable rental value of that property.”  Brown v. 

Pierce County, 28 Wn.2d 345, 352 (1902).  The right to 

recover in the form of rental values does not require the 

presence of a renter witness.  In Holmquist, the Court 

awarded damages in rental value for a private property 

owner, Holmquist who did not “intend[] to rent the 

property”, reasoning that “rental value is a well-

established measure of damages”.  Holmquist v. King 

Cnty., 192 Wn. App. 551, 563 (2016).  Did the Courts 

below err in requiring tenant witness for Petitioner Lian 

to recover his damages?  
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3. As summarized by this Court, “the doctrine respecting 

the matter of certainty, properly applied, is concerned 

more with the fact of damage than with the extent or 

amount of damages.”  Gaasland Co. v. Hyak Lumber & 

Millwork, Inc., 42 Wn.2d 795, 712 (1963) (quoting 15 

AM. JUR. Damages § 23, at 414-16 (1938)).  Did the 

Courts below err in denying Lian’s exclusive rights to 

recovery because “Lian did not specify the amount of lost 

rental income”?  

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

In the Opinion, some critical facts were omitted; some 

irrelevant or false or highly misleading facts were included.  

This is a simple “your dead trees, my nightmare; your 

intentional ignorance, my six years’ damages” case, but it was 

complicated by Nagarajan’s innovative defense strategy - filing 
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baseless claims1 and filing excessive and repetitive pleadings2 

on the same issues on Lian’s damages.  

Notice came from multiple neighbors, six arborists3 and 

one pediatrician (medical director of University of Washington) 

 
1 Nagarajan’s innovative defense for their negligence was 

through filing a baseless trespass claim with zero evidence 
supporting their claims.  To maintain the baseless allegation, 
they also added person without real interests as defendant with 
no service.  CP 400-402.  Nagarajan obtained an alleged 
sanction order in this baseless claim through asking questions 
related to the unserved defendant, and later used to confuse the 
new judge who did not have all knowledge about the case. 
Opinion, at P.5.  When that person submitted the affidavit, 
contesting the false allegation.  CP 375-382; 400-402.  
Nagarajan moved to dismiss the baseless allegations with 
prejudice.  CP 371.    

 
2 Following recusal of Judge Shaffer, Nagarajan filed 

repetitive motions relitigating the issues before Judge Cahan, 
Judge Richardson, and Judge Chung who eventually granted 
their motion.  

 
3 The Court of Appeals appeared to have some 

misunderstanding about Nagarajan’s witness, Anderson’s role 
and his credential.  P.2.  Anderson did not possess the necessary 
Tree Risk Assessment Qualification (TRAQ) to conduct the 
basic tree risk assessment he completed in January 2018, which 
he admitted in deposition that this action was “against ISA 
guideline”.  CP 1157-1158.  Furthermore, in 2015, Anderson 
only inspected one tree, but Lian disputed Nagarajan's ten 
hazardous trees.  CP 502-507, 515-516. 
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who was also concerned about the safety of the hazardous trees 

due to the child injury, and personally contacted the King 

County Code Enforcement Office.  CP 562, Opening Brief at 7.  

Nagarajan had substantial notice from Lian, arborists, and 

multiple witnesses, yet they intentionally chose not to act.   

Of the six arborists, three were retained by Lian, three 

were retained by Nagarajan.  Over the years, Nagarajan was 

given multiple notices, from witnesses and professional 

arborists that their trees were dangerous, and removal was 

required.  Nagarajan ignored all notices and took no action.  

Lian has not been able to use and enjoy the property.  

Due to concerns about the trees and their impact on the 

property, Lian had to move his family to a small condo. 

However, for the past six years, he has paid a monthly 

mortgage of $3,500 for the property and an additional monthly 

$1,570 for the condo.  
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A. Nagarajan’s Hazardous Trees Interfered with Lian’s 
Exclusive Rights to Use.   
 
Nagarajan purchased their home in 2013.  Their yard 

contained several trees, including a large cedar and nine cypress 

trees along the border of the property.  In 2015, the cedar tree 

had a failure when a co-dominant branch fell.  CP 48, 824. 

Nagarajan was informed that they needed to continue to check 

the trees for safety reasons.  CP 516 

Lian moved next door to Nagarajan in 2016.  He was 

concerned about the trees and the possible danger to his 

property.  He informed Nagarajan of this danger.  CP 510-511, 

853-862.  Despite this notice, Nagarajan did not take any 

action.  

Lian continued to have concerns about the trees after the 

injury of his minor child (who did not understand the risk of the 

trees) caused by the falling branches.  He moved out of the 

property in October 2017.  Lian then rented the property to Carl 

Li.  CP 883-890, 1043, 1045.  In November 2017, the 40-foot 

codominant branches of Nagarajan’s cedar trees fell on Lian’s 
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property.  Carl Li broke the lease.  CP 957-964.  Lian has been 

unable to rent the property since that time.  CP 805-818, 932-

995, 996-1011, 1107-1115.   

After the branches fell onto Lian’s property, Nagarajan 

received seven additional notices on the dangers of their trees.  

CP 531, 533, 536-541, 545-546, 549-556, 558.  Six arborists 

(three retained by Nagarajan) were involved in evaluation of 

Nagarajan’s trees.  All six arborists agreed that some of the 

trees were “long dead”.  CP 323; 325; 331; 539; 911-916.  They 

also agreed that removal was recommended, and that regular 

maintenance was advised.  Id.   

The damage done to Lian could have been avoided.  The 

former president of International Society of Arboriculture, 

Pacific Northwest Chapter, John Hushagen testified that “if one 

of a pair of co-dominant stems falls or is removed, the proper 

tree care practice is to remove the second stem soon as it will 

invariably fail within a few years.  I have seen many examples 

of this second failure in my 40-year career as an arborist.”  CP 
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903.  Hushagen pointed out that the 2017 failure could have 

been avoided if Nagarajan had exercised proper care for 

removing the remaining co-dominant branches.  Id.  Despite 

these notices, Nagarajan took no action with regards to the 

trees.  CP 614.  In fact, they did not take any action regarding 

the trees until October 2020, two months after the court denied 

their motion for summary judgment, when they removed the 

nine dead cypress trees.  CP 591, 863. 

For these years, Nagarajan not only ignored notices from 

Lian, but they also further ignored professional 

recommendations from six arborists.  CP 614.  It should be 

noted that in 2018, Nagarajan’s retained arborist, Andrew Baker 

specifically concerned about the multiple co-dominant branches 

of the cedar trees by writing “the codominant leaders of the 

cedar tree will be an issue of concern for the future” and 

advised to “install tree cabling”.  Baker recommended 

removing dead trees.  CP 926.  Two months later, another of 
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Nagarajan’s retained arborists, Andy Anderson recommended a 

series of tree works, including removal of dead trees.  CP 835.  

Nagarajan’s intentional failure to act had effectively 

deprived Lian of his exclusive rights to use and enjoy his 

property to this day.  In fact, the branches from Nagarajan’s tree 

remain on the Lian’s property.  CP 1016-1020.   

B. Trial Court Found a Sufficient Issue to Allow the 
Negligence Claims Against Nagarajan to Proceed to 
Trial. 
 
Lian brought claims against Nagarajan because Lian was 

deprived of the constitutional and exclusive rights to use and 

enjoy his property since November 2017.  Despite having 

notice, Nagarajan failed to remedy the ten hazardous trees, and 

Nagarajan’s 40-foot branches trespassed (and continued to 

trespass as of today) onto Lian’s property.   

At the crux of this case involves Nagarajan’s negligence 

and intentional ignorance and Lian’s rights to recovery:  

1. Nagarajan ignored a total of eight notices over three 

years and took no action.  The court found there was 
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sufficient issue of material fact regarding their years of 

negligence and intentional ignorance of the safety of 

adjacent lands and the issue was allowed to proceed to trial.  

After this decision, Nagarajan finally removed nine of the 

hazardous trees.  CP 591.   

2. Lian had shown damages in the over six years’ inability 

to use and enjoy the property he owned and his inability to 

rent the property.  e.g., CP 932-955. 

Washington law requires that upon notice, tree owner 

“has a duty to take corrective actions.”  Lewis v. Krussel, 101 

Wn. App. 178, 186-187 (2000).  Nagarajan’s negligence is 

composed of two parts: (1) pre-2017 negligence for ignoring 

Lian’s 2016 notice; and (2) post-2017 negligence for ignoring 

six arborists’ instructions of dangerous condition of the subject 

trees.   

As advised by Hushagen and Stemple, the failure of the 

multiple 40-foot branches was from the failure to remove the 

co-dominant branches of Nagarajan’s cedar and could have 
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been avoided.  Nagarajan submitted an email in 2015, 

seemingly to suggest that the several sentences could 

permanently immune them from liability.  Their attempts failed 

for two reasons.  

First, Courts are poor predictors of future condition – this 

is why the Lewis court explicitly requires tree owners to act 

after receiving notice, thus, anything occurred prior to that was 

irrelevant.  In other words, Anderson’s one sentence in 2015 

cannot negate Nagarajan’s liability after receiving Lian’s notice 

in 2016.  Additionally, this email from Anderson was to inform 

Nagarajan of the previous failure and defects.  Nagarajan was 

well aware of the cedar tree’s defects and its prior failure but 

nevertheless chose to ignore Lian’s timely notice.  

For the post-2017 negligence, Nagarajan provided no 

arguments for having ignored six arborists’ advice and multiple 

witnesses’ reminders for the following three years.  Nagarajan 

could not and did not explain why they continued to maintain 
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ten dead and dying trees, without considering the safety of the 

adjacent property.   

C. Judge Shaffer Denied Two Motions for Summary 
Judgment, Finding Factual Disputes on Negligence 
and Damages for Jury, Judge Chung Overruled 
Judge Shaffer.  

 
Lian sued Nagarajan for damages and equitable relief.  

CP 1- 3.  During the pendency of the court case, Nagarajan filed 

two separate motions for summary judgment.  The first sought 

to dismiss all of Lian's claims.  The second sought to limit 

Lian’s damages to $3,000.  

The court allowed the negligence claim to move forward 

and found that Lian’s testimony was sufficient to show he lost 

rental income: 

[Lian] can testify that he was unable to do so.  
[Lian] can’t say why other people didn’t want to 
rent from him, but he can say he couldn’t do it. 
That’s enough for an inference from the fact that 
he lost Mr. Li, that he lost rental income. 
RP 11. 

Additionally, the court stated that Lian:  

testified that for whatever reason he failed to rent 
the property.  A jury could reasonably infer, you 



18 

know, he couldn’t do it because of his problem 
with the trees. 
RP 12. 

In their Response Brief, Nagarajan did not deny they 

failed to take any action regarding the condition of the trees 

despite multiple notices.  Reply Brief p. 29-30.  They took no 

action for several years.  However, after the denial of the 

motion for summary judgment on the negligence issue, 

Nagarajan finally removed nine of the disputed trees from their 

property, finally acknowledging that the trees needed to be 

removed.  

After Judge Shaffer’s recusal from the case, Nagarajan 

filed additional and repetitive motions relitigating this very 

same issue before several different new judges in trial court. 

The motions before Judge Cahan and Judge Richardson were 

unsuccessful.  Nagarajan was finally successful with their 

motion before Judge Chang who dismissed the case on the eve 

of trial.  
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In their motion in limine, citing CR 50, Nagarajan 

challenged the sufficiency of Lian’s evidence of damages.  In 

his response, Lian presented evidence about paying $3,500 

monthly mortgage for a property the family was unable to use 

and enjoy, in addition to $1,570 monthly fees for alternative 

living.  CP 940; 932-995.  Lian also asked the court to follow 

the Washington precedents to quantify the damages using rental 

values.  CP 805-818.  However, the trial court did not follow 

precedent. 

CR 50 requires the court to decide the motion after 

giving the party opportunity to present the evidence, but the 

court dismissed the whole claim prior to trial.  The trial court 

erred in granting the motions in limine on the eve of trial.  The 

Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial court’s decision. 

D. The Court of Appeals Disregarded Well-Established
Precedents and Denied Lian’s Right to Recovery.

In affirming the dismissal denying Lian’s recovery in the

form of rental value, the Court of Appeals opined that Lian 

failed to provide specific amount of his damages, even though 
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Lian’s tenant witness was unable to testify (due to an 

international relocation).  Opinion p.10.  Additionally, the 

Court of Appeals also stated that Lian could not recover 

damages under theory of negligence.  Opinion p.12.  Lian 

moved for reconsideration, arguing that the Court of Appeals’ 

opinion overlooked and misapprehended the applicable 

Washington laws protecting homeowner’s rights to use property 

and for recovery if that use is denied.  e.g., Holmquist v. King 

Cnty., 192 Wn. App. 551, 368 P.3d 234 (2016).  The holding in 

Holmquist is instructive for the following: 

1. The Court of Appeals held in situations where 
homeowner’s exclusive use and enjoyment was 
interfered with, the homeowner is entitled to 
recovery for “even minimal interference with an 
owner’s right of exclusive use and possession.”  Id. 
at 562. 
 

2. The Court of Appeals in Holmquist sets forth that 
the homeowner’s only burden is “fact of 
damages,” not the exact amount of damages.  
Holmquist also held that “mere uncertainty as to 
the amount will not preclude the right of 
recovery.”  Id. at 561 (quoting Gaasland Co. v. 
Hyak Lumber and Millwork, Inc., 42 Wn.2d 705, 
713, 257 P.2d 784 (1953).) 
 



21 

3. The homeowner is entitled to recovery using
imputed rental value even if the homeowner did
not actually rent the property because “[r]ental
market value of the land represents the value of
possession or use.”  Id. at 563 (quoting
Restatement (Second) of Contracts Sec. 348(1)
(1981).)

4. Using imputed rental value to quantify the
homeowner’s damages is a “reasonable” method
and “appropriate measure” for homeowner to
recover damages.  Id.

5. When the opposing party failed to raise alternative
methods for calculating damages, the appellate
court ruled that the homeowner’s calculation using
rental value should be accepted as the only
calculation.  Id

In his motion for reconsideration, Lian pointed out that 

the Court of Appeals’ opinion that Lian cannot recover damage 

under theory of negligence inconsistent with this Court’s 

decision in Kuhr v. City of Seattle, 15 Wn.2d 501. 504 (1942) 

(“Where encroachment interferes with owner’s right to 

exclusive use and enjoyment,” this Court would “think it of 

little moment what the theory of the injured party’s cause of 

action may be”).  Court of Appeals denied motion for 

reconsideration, Lian petitions for review.  
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IV. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW.

This case merits reviews under RAP 13.4 (b)(1)-(4).  The

Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court 

under RAP 13.4 (b)(4).  See State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 

577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).  Specifically, the public interest is 

that this decision has the potential to affect the rights of 

property owners throughout the State of Washington.  Further, 

this case involves a disabled minor’s rights.  CP 562.  The 

Court of Appeals decision involves a significant question of law 

under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the 

United States that should be determined by the Supreme Court 

under RAP 13.4 (b)(4) because this case involved the 

deprivation of homeowners’ property rights and their right to 

use and enjoy their property.   

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with multiple 

prior decisions of the Supreme Court pertaining to the 

protecting of property rights, which should be reviewed by the 



23 

Supreme Court under RAP 13.4 (b)(1).  Finally, the Court of 

Appeals decision is in conflict with another decision of the 

Court of Appeals, specifically and most notably Holmquist v. 

King Cnty., which should be reviewed by the Supreme Court 

under RAP 13.4 (b)(2). 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court Of Appeals’ Decision Creates a New Rule 
Prohibiting Homeowner’s Rights to Recover Damages 
in Form of Rental Value, Conflicts with Gaasland, 
Holmquist, Kuhr, Brown, and Raises an Issue of 
Substantial Public Interest that this Court Should 
Decide.  

“A man’s home is his castle.”  The castle rights are 

protected by U.S. and Washington Constitutions.  Individuals 

have an exclusive right to use and enjoy their private property 

without any interference and to recover for any damages to their 

property as a result of any interference with that right. 

Washington courts do not give less protection.  Washington 

courts have consistently ruled that the homeowner’s paramount 

right to exclude should be respected and homeowner’s damages 

should be compensated when the exclusive use rights were 
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interfered with.  See e.g., Bradley v. Am. Smelting & Ref Co., 

104 Wn.2d 677, 692-693 (1985); Olwell v. Nye & Nissen Co., 

26 Wn.2d 282, 286 (1946); Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Port 

of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 11 (1942); Kuhr v. City of Seattle, 15 

Wn.2d 501 (1942). 

The Court of Appeals has recognized a homeowner’s rights 

as “one of the most essential sticks in the bundle of rights that 

are commonly characterized as property.’  Holmquist 192 Wn. 

App. at 562 (quoting Kaiser Aetna v. United States, 444 US. 

164, 176 (1979).  Washington courts assess damages for even 

minimal interference with a property owner’s right of exclusive 

use and possession and established the below principles: 

1. For the purpose of recovery, damages of private 
property should be measured by “fair and 
reasonable rental value of that property.”  Brown v. 
Pierce County, 28 Wn.2d 345, 352 (1902). 

 
2. For the purpose of recovery, the underlying theory 

of the claims brought by homeowners will not 
affect their rights to recovery. Kuhr v. City of 
Seattle, 15 Wn.2d 501 (1942) (where 
encroachment interferes with owner’s right to 
exclusive use and enjoyment, “we think it of little 
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moment what the theory of the injured party’s 
cause of action may be”). 

 
3. For the purpose of recovery, homeowners are not 

required to provide specific amounts. Gaasland 
Co. v. Hyak Lumber & Millwork, Inc., 42 Wn.2d 
705, 712 (1953). 
 

4. For the purpose of recovery, homeowners are not 
required to provide any tenant witness for 
claiming damages in rental values.  Holmquist v. 
King Cnty., 192 Wn. App. 551, 563 (2016). 
 

5. The homeowner is entitled to compensation for 
“even minimal interference with an owner’s right 
of exclusive use.”  Id. at 562 (quoting Loretto v. 
Teleprompter Manhattan CATV Corp. 458 U.S. 
419, 422. 102 S. Ct. 3164. 73 L. Ed. 2d 868 
(1982)). 

 
Instead of following these well-established precedents,

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