FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/26/2023 1:49 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1018819 COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 82644-1-I

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 19-2-23880-1 SEA

NAIXIANG LIAN, Petitioner.

v.

ARUN NAGARAJAN and INDHU KRISHNA SIVARAMAKRISHNAN, Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Levi Bendele WSBA No. 26411 Mary W. Cullen WSBA No. 58747 Of Attorneys for Respondent

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT
A. Mr. Lian fails to establish a basis for his petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)
B. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court
C. The Court of Appeals unpublished decision does not conflict with another Court of Appeals decision
D. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest
VI. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

Cases Page
Brown v. Pierce County 28 Wash. 345, 68 P. 872 (1902)
Dept. of Ecology v. Adsit 103 Wn.2d 698, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985)
Gaasland Co. v. Hyak Lumber & Millwork, Inc. 42 Wn.2d 705, 7257 P.2d 784 (1953)
Gen. Tel. Co. of the Northwest, Inc. v. City of Bothell 105 Wn.2d 597, 716 P.2d 879 (1986)
Holmquist v. King Cnty. 192 Wn. App. 551, 368 P.2d 234 (2016)
<i>In re Myers</i> 105 Wn.2d 257, 714 P.2d 303 (1986) 16
<i>Kuhr v. City of Seattle</i> 15 Wn.2d 501, 131 P.2d 168 (1942)
Matter of Rhem 188 Wn.2d 321, 394 P.3d 367 (2017)10
Sorenson v. City of Bellingham 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972)16
State ex rel. Chapman v. Superior Court 15 Wn.2d 637, 642-43, 131 P.2d 958 (1942)17

State ex rel. Yakima Amusement Co. v. Yakima County 192 Wash. 179, 73 P.2d 759 (1937)17
Other Authorities
I Restatement of Contracts, 515 § 331
McCormick on Damages 99, § 26
McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, 2d Ed9
Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) 3, 5, 6, 15, 17
Rules
RAP 13.4passim
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY

Defendant-Respondents are Arun Nagarajan and Indhu Krishna Sivaramakrishnan (hereinafter collectively "Mr. Nagarajan). Mr. Nagarajan respectfully requests that the Court deny Mr. Lian's petition for review of the decision designated in Part II.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The unpublished opinion, issued on February 6, 2023 under Cause No. 82644-1-I, is attached to Mr. Lian's petition at as Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should deny a petition for review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision pursuant RAP 13.4 where that decision: (1) does not conflict with any other Court of Appeals decision; (2) does not involve an issue of substantial public interest; and (3) does not involve a significant issue of Constitutional law or legislative enactment.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals

succinctly and accurately sets forth the facts that are central to Mr. Lian's petition for review. *See* Liant's Petition for Review, Appendix A. Mr. Nagarajan adopts the Court of Appeals' statement of facts by reference.

V. ARGUMENT

Mr. Lian incorrectly believes that grounds for review exist under RAP 13.4. As a preliminary matter, the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished. Therefore, the decision cannot conflict with any other decision because, by its very nature, it is not precedent. Similarly, the unpublished decision does not – and cannot – substantially affect the public interest. Indeed, even if the Court of Appeals incorrectly decided the matter, Mr. Lian is the only person harmed. Again, the decision does not apply to anyone else.

Further, this Court should reject Mr. Lian's petition for for review because he fails to set forth any basis for review as RAP 13.4(b) requires. Mr. Lian claims that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of this Court

pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(1), but fails to establish any such conflict. Mr. Lian also claims that, under RAP 13.4(b)(2), the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another Court of Appeals decision, which he also fails to establish. Additionally, the decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it is neither one that is recurring in nature nor one that impacts a large number of people. Moreover, the issues in Mr. Lian's petition do not implicate Constitutional principles or legislative enactments, nor does Mr. Lian even assert that that they do. Accordingly, this Court should reject Mr. Lian's petition for review.

A. Mr. Lian fails to establish a basis for his petition for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Supreme Court review of a Court of Appeals decision is an extraordinary step. Indeed, there must be a "compelling need," Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998), for this Court to decide an issue presented. Pursuant to RAP 13.4, this Court will grant a petition for review **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Mr. Lian's petition for review should be denied because it fails to satisfy any of the above stated grounds for Supreme Court review.

Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles Mr. Lian to review by this Court simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is

functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally. significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of the time. Failure to show the court the "big picture" will likely diminish the statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

Here, Mr. Lian asserts the issues presented for review are whether Division One "erred" by (1) denying Mr. Lians "right to recovery of his over six years' damages for a debated theory of 'intentional tort' or 'negligence'"; (2) 'requiring [a] tenant witness for Petition Lian to recover his damages"; and (3) "denying Lian's exclusive rights to recovery because 'Lian did not specify the amount of lost rental income.'" Petition for Review, at pp. 7-8. None of these assertions are true. Even so,

RAP 13.4(b) is not a vehicle permitting Supreme Court review merely to correct alleged errors by the Court of Appeals. Rather, Mr. Lian must show that this case is sufficiently exceptional to "transcend the particular application of the law in question." Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11.

Mr. Lian fails to establish sufficient cause for review.

Thus, none of the issues presented meets RAP 13.4 to warrant the extraordinary step of review by this Court.

B. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Mr. Lian contends Division I's decision is in conflict with "multiple prior decisions" of the Supreme Court pertaining to the protection of property rights. Petition for Review, at p. 22. Mr. Lian incorrectly asserts that it conflicts with the following Washington State Supreme Court decisions: (1) *Brown v. Pierce County*, 28 Wash. 345, 68 P. 872 (1902); (2) *Kuhr v. City of Seattle*, 15 Wn.2d 501, 131 P.2d 168 (1942) and

(3) Gaasland Co. v. Hyak Lumber & Millwork, Inc., 42 Wn.2d 705, 257 P.2d 784 (1953). Petition for Review, at pp. 24-25.

1. Brown v. Pierce County.

In *Brown*, this Court affirmed the Court of Appeals use of jury instructions related to the measure of damages for a building that had been destroyed by fire by an unknown person. Brown, 28 Wash. at 352, 68 P. 874. The building had been seized by Brown and used as a quarantine station for persons who were afflicted with smallpox for the preservation of public health; after its demolition, the County believed Brown was indebted to it for the "value of the property and the value of its use and occupation. *Id.*, at 348. Both the County and Brown introduced testimony directed to the value of the property, but not as to the value of its use. *Id.*, at 351. The trial court instructed the jury to measure the damages using based on what the it believed the evidence proved to "be the fair and reasonable rental value of that property for the purpose for which it was taken and used," or "what damage the property sustained by reason of having been used for a pesthouse." *Id.*, at 351-52.

In the instant petition, Mr. Lian asserts the Court of Appeals "prohibited Lian from recovery using imputed rental income," which directly disregards the holding in Brown "directing Washington courts to measure private homeowner's damages using imputed rental values." Petition for Review, at p. 26. Notably, Mr. Lian incorrectly states the holding in Brown, which does not require the imputed rental values be included in the measure of damages. Rather, the *Brown* decision explains it was proper to instruct the jury to measure damages based on evidence of the building's value and use, especially where its use – and therefore, overall value – was rendered nonexistent given the evidence of its use as a "pesthouse." *Brown*, at 352. It is unclear how, or in what way, the Court of Appeals unpublished decision conflicts with Brown. In any event, Mr. Lian is simply wrong and fails to

show the unpublished decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Brown*.

2. Kuhr v. City of Seattle.

In *Kuhr*, this Court considered whether the municipality of the City of Seattle could be liable for property damages caused by an earth slide on private roads which had "never been opened and improved for public travel." *Id.*, 15 Wn.2d, at 502-503 (internal citation omitted); 7 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations, 2d Ed., p. 64, § 2924). Although *Kuhr* involved an encroachment cause of action, this Court ultimately entered a judgment based on a decision it observed was "inapposite" to the case at hand, explaining:

When this right against encroachment is invaded, we think it of little moment what the theory of the injured party's cause of action may be. Whether it be brought on the theory of trespass, nuisance, negligence, or violation of rights guaranteed by Art. 1, § 16, of the Constitution, is not important. If, under the facts and circumstances of the particular case, the theory of the cause of action is adapted to the relief sought, it is sufficient.

Id., at 504. In other words, appellant's theory of the case in *Kuhr*, whether brought under "trespass, nuisance, negligence, or violation of rights guaranteed by Art. 1, § 16, of the Constitution" did not preclude the Court from relying on what might otherwise be considered factually distinct precedent given the well-recognized rights and liabilities of adjoining landowners. *Id.*

Mr. Lian contends Division I's decision is "inconsistent" with the holding in *Kuhr* because it allegedly suggests Mr. Lian could not recover damages under the theory of negligence. Petition for Review, p. 19. He baselessly contends the Court of Appeals created a new rule that he "must plead under intentional torts rather than negligence." Petition for Review, p. 25. Notably, Mr. Lian attempted to raise this as a new issue on appeal, which the Court of Appeals correctly declined to review. *See Matter of Rhem*, 188 Wn.2d 321, 328, 394 P.3d 367, 370 (2017) ("Appellate courts should not be placed in a role of crafting issues for the parties; thus, mere naked castings

into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion") (internal quotes omitted). Regardless, Mr. Lian identifies no actual conflict, instead complaining that the Court of Appeals should have decided the case differently. As such, there does not appear to be any valid challenge to the *Kuhr* decision pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. Gaasland Co. v. Hyak Lumber & Millwork, Inc.

In Gaasland Co., this Court considered whether the defendant's motion for a nonsuit was properly dismissed. Id., 42 Wn.2d at 706. The motion was premised on two grounds: (1) plaintiff had failed to present sufficient establish a prima facie case of contract; and (2) the evidence presented failed to establish damages. Id. It was dismissed only on the first ground. Id. This Court reversed the appellate decision to affirm the trial court, concluding the evidence construed in favor to the non-moving party was sufficient to establish a prima facie case of contract. Id., at 710. Further, this Court

addressed the issue of damages, specifically whether the asserted "rule of certainty" applied to contract damages. *Id.*, at 712.

The Gaasland Co. decision discusses the "harsh effects of a rigorous application of the rule," cautioning there is a difference "in the quantum of proof needed to establish the fact of damage as against that needed to establish the amount of damage." Id., at 713. The rule operates to assure one will recover only where he can first establish the fact he has been damaged, to avoid later speculation by the fact-finder who determines the amount of damages. Id. This Court reconciled these aims, concluding "[o]nce such a prima facie showing is made, there is sufficient evidence in the record to permit reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom as to the extent of damage." Id., at 713-14.

Again, Mr. Lian incorrectly asserts homeowners are not required to provide specific amounts for the purposes of

¹ See I Restatement of Contracts, 515 § 331 and McCormick on Damages 99, § 26.

recovery under Gaasland. Petition for Review, p. 25. Mr. Lian also incorrectly asserts he must "provide tenant witnesses to recover damages in rental values," or "specific the specific amount of damages." *Id.* Notably, Mr. Lian failed to produce evidence during discovery, which led to the denial of his attempt to introduce evidence of lost rental income damages at trial. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial courts granting of Mr. Nagarajans' renewed motion in limine and corresponding CR 50 motion. Mr. Lian's petition confuses the legal concept that he is required to present some evidence to "establish the fact of damage" and "permit reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom" and avoid speculation. Gaasland, 42 Wn.2d at 714. More importantly, he disregards the procedural basis for the Court of Appeals determination of the matter, using the petition as a tool to complain it should have decided the matter differently. Thus, there does not appear to be any valid challenge to the Gaasland decision pursuant RAP 13.4(b)(1).

C. The Court of Appeals unpublished decision does not conflict with another Court of Appeals decision.

With respect to RAP 13.4(b)(2), Mr. Lian must show the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with another Court of Appeals decision.

As discussed, an unpublished decision is not precedent, and therefore cannot conflict with another decision. Nonetheless, Mr. Lian asserts the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Holmquist v. King Cntv.*, 192 Wn. App. 551, 563 (2016).To the contrary, the decision fully comports with settled Washington law. The *Holmquist* court concluded damages may be quantified using rental values where a party has been deprived of ownership rights. *Id.*, 192 Wn. App., at 563. This was consistent with well-established law regarding the measure of damages.

Here, the Court of Appeals did not even apply the *Holmquist* decision, and it defies logic that it somehow conflicts. As discussed *infra*, § B, 3, this claim stems from Mr.

Lian's failure to produce evidence during discovery, which eventually led to the denial of his attempt to introduce evidence of lost rental income damages at trial. Thereafter, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial courts granting of Mr. Nagarajans' renewed motion in limine and corresponding CR 50 motion. Even if the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision could somehow conflict with another appellate decision, Mr. Lian identifies no actual conflict, once again instead complaining that the Court of Appeals should have decided the case differently.

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